
11 October 1949 97 !58th meeti.Yig 

HUNDRED AND FIFTY-EIGHTH MEETING 
Held at Lake Success, New York, on Tuesday, 11 October 1949, at 3 p.m. 

Chairman: Mr. LACHS (Poland). 

~Iethods and procedures of the General and 109 of the rules of procedure. Those amend­
Assembly: report of the Special Com- ments appeared in paragraph 4 of document A/ 

C.6/L.8. 
mittee (A/937) (continued) 

1. The CHAIRMAN drew the attention of the 
members of the Committee to the amendments sub­
mitted by the delegation of the United Kingdom of 
Great Britain and Northern Ireland to rules 82 

2. Mr. FITZMAURICE (United Kingdom) ex­
plained why his delegation had proposed the 
amendments. Rule 82 of the present rules of pro­
cedure provided the following: "When an amend­
ment is moved to a proposal, the amendment shall 

30913-4 



158th meeting 98 11 October 1949 

be voted on first. When two or more amendments 
are moved to a proposal, the General Assembly 
shall first vote on the amendment furthest re­
moved in substance from the original proposal and 
then on the amendment next furthest removed 
therefrom, and so on, until all the amendments 
have been put to the vote." That provision, which 
was also contained in rule 119, sometimes led the 
Chairman to put to the vote amendments which 
had been automatically excluded as a result of the 
previous adoption of another amendement; this 
resulted in useless votes and a consequent loss of 
time, as well as in long procedural discussions. 

3. The representative of the United Kingdom 
gave the following illustration : A proposal to 
refer a question to the International Court of 
Justice had been submitted to a main committee; 
and two amendments were submitted. One was 
to refer the question to the International Law 
Commission, the other to refer it to a special com­
mittee which would settle it during the current 
session. In accordance with the rules of procedure, 
the second of the two amendments, which was the 
furthest removed from the original proposal, was 
to be voted on first. It was quite evident, however, 
that, if the first amendment was adopted, the 
adoption of the second amendment would be auto­
matically excluded, so that it was quite useless to 
put the latter to the vote. 

4. Mr. Fitzmaurice stressed the fact that cases 
of that kind had already arisen. It was to offset 
such disadvantages that the United Kingdom dele­
gation proposed adding to rules 82 and 119, after 
the words "until all the amendments had been 
put to the vote", the following sentence: "Where 
however the adoption of one amendment neces­
sarily implies the rejection of another amendment, 
the latter amendment shall not be put to the vote". 

5. Mr. KORETSKY (Union of Soviet Socialist 
Republics) was of the opinion that the United 
Kingdom amendments limited the freedom of 
action of the General Assembly and the Main 
Committees too much. 

6. Moreover, far from simplifying the conduct 
of discussions and of saving time, the proposal 
might result in long procedural discussions. In 
fact, it was not always easy to decide whether or 
not one amendment excluded another. Such ques­
tions could be easily decided in certain cases ; in 
others, on the contrary, there might be consider­
able difference of opinion. It was therefore pref­
erable to maintain the customary procedure, that 
is, to vote on all the amendments, which took 
only a few moments, rather than to have a long 
and useless discussion on whether the adoption of 
one of those amendments automatically resulted 
in the rejection of the others. 

7. The USSR delegation, which quite under­
stood the very praiseworthy motives which had led 
the United Kingdom delegation to submit its 
amendments, therefore hoped that that delega­
tion would agree to withdraw its proposal. 

8. Mr. LouTFI (Egypt) regretted that he could 
not support the United Kingdom amendments. 
In practice, when the Chairman of a Main Com­
mittee decided· that an amendment was automatic­
ally excluded as a result of the previous adoption 
of another proposal, he consulted the author of 
the amendment, or asked the Committee's opinion. 
It seemed better to maintain that more flexible 
procedure and to let the Main Committees decide, 
without trying to impose any strict rule on them. 

9. Moreover, Mr. Loutfi feared, as did the USSR 
representative, that the United Kingdom amend­
ments would result in long procedural discussion. 
He would therefore vote against the amendments. 

10. The CHAIRMAN put to the vote the United 
Kingdom amendment (A/ C.6/L.8, paragraph 4) 
to add to rule 82, after the words "until all the 
amendments had been put to the vote", the follow­
ing sentence : "Where however the adoption of 
one amendment necessarily implies the rejection 
of another amendment, the latter amendment 
shall not be put to the vote." 

The mnendment to rule 82 was adopted by 
25 votes to 17, with 9 abstentions. 

11. The CHAIRMAN put to the vote the United 
Kingdom amendment to add to rule 119, after 
the words : "until all the amendments had been 
put to the vote", the following sentence : "Where 
however the adoption of one amendment neces­
sarily implies the rejection of another amendment, 
the latter amendment shall not be put to the vote." 

The amendment to rule 119 was adopted by 
24 votes to 17, with 8 abstentions. 

12. Mr. BARTOS (Yugoslavia) observed that he 
had abstained in the vote on the amendment to 
rule 82, but that he had voted against the amend­
ment to rule 119. The amendment to rule 82, in 
his opinion, involved only changes of minor signifi­
cance. On the contrary, it was essential that voting 
procedure in the Main Committees should not be 
restricted, because the General Assembly and 
public opinion must know exactly what reception 
delegations had given to the various proposals. 
13. The CHAIRMAN drew the attention of mem­
bers of the Committee to the United Kingdom 
proposal (A/C.6/L.8, paragraph 5) on the dupli­
cation of rules of procedure. 

14. Mr. FITZMAURICE (United Kingdom), pre­
senting his proposal, reviewed the difficulties which 
resulted from the fact that there were two sets 
of rules, one governing the proceedings of the 
General Assembly, and the other governing those 
of the Main Committees. While it was a most 
unusual state of affairs that some of the rules of 
procedure should apply only to plenary meetings, 
and others only to the conduct of debates in the 
Main Committees, there were some twenty rules 
which could apply equally to plenary meetings and 
to meetings of the Main Committees. He cited in 
particular rules 60 and 98, 7 4 and 112, 78 and 
115, 83 and 120, and others, which were abso­
lutely identical except that one referred to the 
General Assembly and the other to the Main Com­
mittees. There was therefore duplication in the 
case of those rules, which created some confu­
sion in debates, since representatives sometimes 
cited the number of the rule referring to the Gen­
eral Assembly when they were in committee, and 
vice versa. To overcome those disadvantages, 
every time one of the rules of procedure of 
the General Assembly was absolutely identical 
with the corresponding rule of procedure of the 
Main Committees, the two should be amalgamated 
into a single rule. 

15. Those considerations had led his delegation 
to propose the establishment of a single group of 
rules, instead of two, the text of which would be 
drafted so as to apply equally to the General As­
sembly and to the Main Committees, as the case 
might be. For example, in the case of rules which 
applied both to the General Assembly and to the 
Committees, the words "or the Main Committees" 



11 October 1949 99 !58th meeting 

should be placed in parentheses after the words 
"General Assembly". 
16. Mr. Yuen-li LIANG (Secretariat) recalled 
that, in 1946, the General Assembly had adopted 
a rule 107 stipulating that rules 65 to 76 of the 
rules of procedure of the General Assembly should 
also apply to the Main Committees, but th~t l:;tter 
the Committee on Procedures and Orgamzatwn, 
which had met in 1947 and on whose recommenda­
tions the existing rules of procedure were based, 
had judged it preferable to have two sets of rules 
of procedure, one for the General Assembly and 
the other for the Main Committees. 

17. Mr. ]oRDAAN (Union of South Africa) was 
of the opinion that the advantages of the Unit~d 
Kingdom proposal to amalgamate those rules of 
procedure which were duplicated, were quite 
obvious. He would therefore vote for that proposal. 

18. He merely wished to know whether the 
operation would be carried out by the Committee 
itself or entrusted to the Secretariat. Since the 
task was a fairly simple one, the second solution 
appeared preferable. 
19. Mr. WENDELEN (Belgium) could not sup­
port the United Kingdom proposal. His delega­
tion had, as far back as 1947, defended the point 
of view that there should be two separate sets 
of rules ; and that view had since been borne out 
in practice. 
20. Mr. MAYRAND (Canada) would also vote 
against the United Kingdom proposal. Two years 
previously, his delegation had played a very active 
part in ensuring that the various rules of pro­
cedure of the General Assembly should be divided 
into two groups, according to whether they applied 
to the General Assembly or to the Main Commit­
tees. 
21. Mr. GRAFSTROM (Sweden) wished to recon­
cile the different opinions expressed in the Com­
mittee. He proposed, in connexion with those 
rules which were identical in the rules of pro­
cedure of both the General Assembly and the 
Main Committees, that each of the rules apply­
ing to the General Assembly should mention the 
number of the corresponding rule in the rules of 
procedure of the Main Committees, and vice versa. 
That would facilitate the task of representatives 
who had occasion to quote rules of pro(:edure dur­
ir.g- meetings, and would prevent them from giving 
wrong references. 

22. Mr. FITZMAURICE (United Kingdom) said 
he could not withdraw his proposal in favour of 
that of Sweden. Though the latter would rep­
resent a definite improvement in the existing rules 
of procedure, it would not eliminate all possibility 
of error, as did the United Kingdom proposal. 
Mr. Fitzmaurice added that, if his own proposal 
were to be rejected, he would vote for that of 
Sweden. 
23. The CHAIRMAN put to the vote the United 
Kingdom proposal (AjC.6jL.8, paragraph 5) 
that all rules governing the proceedings of the 
General Assembly and those of the Main Commit­
tees be amalgamated whenever such rules were 
identical. 

The proposal was rejected by 24 votes to 11, 
uith 11 abstentions. 

24. Mr. KoRETSKY (Union of Soviet Socialist 
Republics) asked for more details regarding the 
Swedish proposal. He wished to know whether 
it was intended to incorporate the indications in 

question in the actual text of the rules of pro­
cedure, or merely to append an index showing how 
the rules corresponded to each other, a task which 
might be entrusted to the Secretariat. 

25. Mr. GRAFSTROM (Sweden) replied that the 
indications whose insertion he was proposing 
would not form an integral part of the text; they 
might appear in brackets or in the form of notes. 

26. In reply to a question by Mr. WENDELEN 
(Belgium), Mr. GRAFSTROM (Sweden) explained 
that his proposal referred exclusively to those 
rules of procedure of the General Assembly and 
of the Main Committees which were identical, 
and not to rules which merely corresponded to 
each other. 
27. Mr. MAURTUA (Peru) thought it might be 
advisable to provide for the insertion of similar 
indications in the case of all rules which were 
to some extent parallel. The Secretariat might 
be entrusted with the work. 

28. Mr. KoRETSKY (Union of Soviet Socialist 
Republics), in reply to a question by the CHAIR­
MAN, said he did not wish to make a formal pro­
posal regarding the insertion in the rules of pro­
cedure of an index showing how the rules 
corresponded. He had merely made a suggestion 
which the Secretariat might take up if it wished. 
In fact, if the question was not one of actually 
altering the text of the rules but merely of find­
ing some practical method of easing the task of 
representatives who needed to refer to the rules 
of procedure, the Committee should leave the 
Secretariat to deal as it thought best with such 
minor problems of editing. 

29. Mr. GRAFSTROM (Sweden), associating him­
self with the USSR representative's suggestion, 
proposed that the Committee simply ask the 
Secretariat to take all necessary action to facili­
tate references to the rules of pros;edure. 

It was so decided. 

30. The CHAIRMAN drew the Committee's atten­
tion to the United Kingdom proposal (A/C.6/ 
L.S, paragraph 6) that a preface or annex should 
be added to the rules of procedure. 

31. Mr. FITZMAURICE (United Kingdom) was 
not sure that the proposal in question, which had 
been submitted by his delegation at the very out­
set of the discussion, absolutely corresponded to 
the existing situation. It was now being proposed 
that the Secretariat should prepare a document 
embodying certain proposals and recommenda­
tions contained in the report (A/937) of the 
Special Committee on Methods and Procedures 
which had been approved by the Sixth Commit­
tee. But the main idea of the United Kingdom 
proposal was still as useful as ever, and he would 
like to hear the Coq~mittee's reactions to it. In 
the opinion of the United Kingdom delegation, it 
would be extremely useful to include, as preface 
or annex to the rules of procedure, some of the 
recommendations and observations of the Special 
Committee's report which could not be included 
in the rules themselves but which nevertheless 
contained ideas of the greatest importance. It 
was to be feared that, if those observations and 
recommendations were to appear in a separate 
document, which might not always be at the dis­
posal of representatives, they would soon be more 
or less forgotten. But if they were inserted, in 
the form of an annex or preface, in the booklet 
containing the rules of procedure themselves they 
would retain all their force. ' 



l58th meeting 100 11 October 1949 

32. Mr. KoRETSKY (Union of Soviet Socialist 
Republics) could not support the United King­
dom proposal. First, he was doubtful of its prac­
tical utility; secondly, he thought the proposal 
dealt with matters which the Secretary-General 
should be left free to arrange as he saw fit. It was 
for the Secretary-General to decide whether the 
observations and recommendations in question 
should be published as a printed document or 
booklet, or should, on the contrary, be inserted 
as an annex in the same booklet as the rules of 
procedure themselves. 

33. Mr. CHAUMONT (France) considered that 
the United Kingdom proposal no longer corre­
sponded to the existing situation. Moreover, that 
proposal seemed to contain an internal contra­
diction: the United Kingdom note (AjC.6/L.8) 
stated, on the one hand, that the preface or annex 
would not interpret or comment on the actual 
rules themselves, but would, on the other hand, 
suggest the spirit in which those rules should be 
applied. But the two were rather difficult to sepa­
rate. 

34. Lastly, in addition to the fact that it was 
not the usual practice to add comments or obser­
vations to rules of procedure, the drafting of such 
a preface or annex would entail lengthy discus­
sion, since each word would have to be weighed 
with the greatest care. 

35. Mr. BARTOS (Yugoslavia) supported the 
French representative's remarks regarding the 
contradictions in the United Kingdom proposal. 
The United Kingdom representative alleged that 
the preface or annex would not be intended to 
interpret the rules of procedure themselves, but 
in fact it would be doing more, since it would to 
a certain extent determine the methods of inter­
pretation. 

36. Mr. JoRDAAN (Union of South Africa) was 
surprised that the United Kingdom proposal, de­
signed simply to assemble in a short preface or 
annex those recommendations in the Special 
Committee's report which had been approved by 
the Sixth Committee but could not be incorpo­
rated in the rules of procedure themselves, should 
raise so many difficulties. The delegation of the 
Union of South Africa supported the proposal 
because it thought it would be useful to include 
certain indications regarding the spirit in which 
the rules of procedure should be applied in an 
annex to those rules. 

37. Mr. MADRTUA (Peru) stated that there was 
an important technical point which should be set­
tled first. W auld the preface or annex in question 
reproduce certain passages of the Special Com­
mittee's report or would it simply be based on 
those passages and thus constitute a new text? 

38. Mr. Omo (Costa Rica) associated himself 
with the question put by the Peruvian representa­
tive. 

39. Mr. FITZMAURICE (United Kingdom) said 
that the United Kingdom proposal should be con­
sidered in relation to sub-paragraph 3 of para­
graph B of the joint draft resolution submitted 
by Denmark, Iceland, Norway and Sweden 
( A/C.6/L.23). That sub-paragraph stated that 
the General Assembly: 

"Requests the Secretary-General to prepare a 
document embodying the above-mentioned recom­
mendations, suggestions and considerations in 
convenient form for use by the General Commit-

tee and the delegations of Member States in the 
General Assembly". 

The United Kingdom delegation thought that 
the best means of achieving that purpose would 
be to include such a document as an annex to the 
rules of procedure, the document itself having 
received the prior approval of the General As­
sembly. In that way, there would never be any 
risk of forgetting the Special Committee's recom­
mendations and observations. That was the aim 
of the United Kingdom proposal. 

40. Mr. KoRETSKY (Union of Soviet Socialist 
R.epublics) thought that the United Kingdom pro­
posal, as it appeared in paragraph 6 of document 
A/{:.6/L.S, differed somewhat from the one the 
United Kingdom representative had just made 
verbally. In point of fact, the written proposal ad­
vocated the insertion, in the rules of procedure, 
of a preface containing the "general principles by 
which the President, other officers and members 
of the Assembly and of Main Cummittees should 
be animated in order to ensure a1e speedy dis­
patch of business". On the other hand, the re­
marks the United Kingdo:ll representative had 
just made were 'oncerned simply with the advan­
tages of publishmg as an annex to the rules of 
procedure, the document th{; Secretariat was to 
prepare, after that document had be<>n approved 
by the Sixth Con:mittee and the General Assem­
bly. But that would be n,erely a simple technical 
question which ought to be ~ettled a~ a lc;~er date. 

41. Mr. MAURTUA (Peru) said that, in order to 
avoid any misunderstanding, it would be advis­
able to specify in the United Kingdom prorosal 
that the Secretariat would simply have to reFro­
duce certain observations and recommendations 
made by the Special Committee on Methods an,1 

Procedures in the form of an annex to the rules 
of procedure. An official of the Secretariat could 
not be asked to draw up an annex or preface 
listing the basic principles of procedure. 

42. Mr. FITZMAURICE (United Kingdom) 
agreed to submit his proposal in the form sug­
gested by Peru since it met the purpose of his 
delegation. 

43. The CHAIRMAN wished to know whether, 
in that case, the United Kingdom representative 
would agree to his proposal being considered after 
the joint draft resolutio~ ( A/C.6/L.23). 

44. Mr. FITZMAURICE (United Kingdom) ac­
cepted that solution. 

45. The CHAIRMAN recalled that, at the 157th 
meeting, the Committee had set up a Drafting 
Committee to clarify texts which had already been 
approved and to submit a report to the Sixth 
Committee. He suggested that the Committee 
should postpone a final decision on the whole of 
the question of methods and procedures until it 
had received the Drafting Committee's report. 

It was so decided. 

Report of the International Law 
Commission (A/925) 1 

46. The CHAIRMAN recalled that under reso­
lution 174 (II), the General Assembly had set up 
the International Law Commission, whose mem­
bers had been elected on 3 November 1948. The 
Sixth Committee had before it the report submit-

1 See Official Records of the fourth session of the Gm­
cral Assembly, Supplement No. 10. 



ll October 1949 101 158th meeting 

ted by the International Law Commission on the 
work of its first session. On behalf of the mem­
bers of the Committee, the Chairman asked Mr. 
Hudson Chairman of the International Law 
Commis~ion, to take part in the discussion of the 
report, and invited him to take a place at the 
Committee table. 

Jfr. Hudson took a place at the Committee 
table. 

47. Mr. HunsoN (Chairman of the International 
Law Commission) thanked the Committee for 
the invitation to take part in its work during its 
consideration of the report of the International 
Law Commission. 

48. The International Law Commission had in­
structed its Chairman to place himself at the dis­
posal of the Sixth Committee in order to give it 
all necessary explanations of the report. Mr. Hud­
son ;vondered, however, whether his presence was 
really necessary in view of the fact that five mem­
bers of the International Law Commission, in­
cluding the two Vice-Chairmen, the Rapporteur 
and special Rapporteur, represented their Govern­
ments on the Sixth Committee and could there­
fore provide a.ll the necessary explanations. How­
ever that might be, he would hold himself at the 
Committee's disposal to reply to all questions that 
it wished to put to him, and would be happy if his 
co-operation proved useful. 

49. i\Ir. Hudson wished to comment on the re­
port in order to emphasize its important points 
and to call attention to the Commission's deci­
sions. 

50. The International Law Commission had 
held its first session at Lake Success from 12 
April to 9 June 1949. Thirteen of the fifteen mem­
bers of the Commission had taken part in its 
work. It had studied each of the six items on its 
agenda, listed in paragraph 6 of its report 
(A/925). 

51. The question of the powers of the Commis­
sion with respect to the selection of topics for 
cvdification had been discussed at great length. 
It had finally been decided, by 10 votes to 3, that 
the Commisston was competent to carry out its 
work in accordance with the procedure laid down 
in articles 19 to 23 of its Statute, without await­
ina the General Assembly's decision on recom­
m~ndations submitted by the Commission under 
article 18, paragraph 2. 

52. The Commission had taken up the study of 
international law as a whole, using a document 
prepared by the Secre~ariat. Afte~ di~cussing each 
of the twenty-five topics dealt with m that docu­
ment, the Commission had provisionally selected 
fourteen topics, listed in paragraph 16 of its re­
port. The laws of war had not been included in 
that selection because the majority of the mem­
bers of the Commission felt that the work of the 
Commission would arouse greater public interest 
if it dealt exclusively with the law of peace, at 
least at the beginning. The Commission had, how­
ever taken note of the fact that a conference 
whi~h had met in Geneva, at approximately the 
same time as the International Law Commission, 
had succeeded in drawing up four draft conven­
tions on questions concerned with the laws of 
war, in particular on the treatment of prisoners 
and civilians in time of war. The Commission had 
decided to give priority to the law of treaties, 
arbitral procedure and the regime of the high 
seas. It had nominated Mr. Brierly, Mr. Scelle 

and Mr. Francois as Rapporteurs; .each of .th~m 
was to prepare a working paper for subm~sston 
to the Commission's next session on the top1c en­
trusted to him. It had also decided to ask Govern­
ments to submit documentation on the three topics 
selected. Finally, the Commission had requested 
one of its members, Mr. Y epes, to prepare a work­
ing paper for the next session on the topic of the 
right of asylum. 
53. In accordance with General Assembly reso­
lution 177 (II), the Commission had considered 
the formulation of the Niirnberg principles and 
the preparation of a draft code of offences against 
the peace and security of mankind. After long dis­
cussion and after studying the report of the Sub­
Committee which it had established to formulate 
the Niirnberg principles, the Commission had de­
cided to appoint Mr. Spiropoulos as Rapporteur 
and to request him to prepare a working paper 
on the whole question for the next session. 

54. The Commission had studied the question, 
referred to it by the General Assembly in resolu­
tion 260 (III), B, of establishing an international 
judicial orgau for the trial of persons charged 
with genocide or other crimes over which juris­
diction would be conferred upon that organ by 
international conventions. After a preliminary 
discussion, the Commission had appointed Mr. 
Alfaro and Mr. Sandstrom Rapporteurs on the 
subject. 
55. In accordance with article 24 of its Statute, 
the Commission had begun the consideration of 
ways and means for making the conventie>ns of 
customary international law more readily avail­
able. It had invited its Chairman to prepare a 
working papec on the question for its next session. 

56. With a view to the distribution of its docu­
ments, the Commission had also examined a ten­
tative list of national and international organiza­
tions concerned with questions of international 
law. That list had been prepared by the Secretary­
General in accordance with article 26, paragraphs 
2 and 3, of the Statute. 

57. The Commission had taken certain other 
decisions, inter alia, on the place where its next 
session would be held. It had also suggested that 
the General Assembly should revise article 13 of 
the Commission's Statute relating to the allow­
ances paid to members of the Commission. 

58. Passing to part II of the report ( A/925), 
Mr. Hudson recalled that in resolution 178 (II) 
the General Assembly had instructed the Inter­
national Law Commission to prepare a draft 
declaration on the rights and duties of States, 
taking the draft declaration submitted by Panama 
as a basis for discussion. The Commission had 
devoted several weeks to studying the question 
and it had adopted, by 11 votes to 2, the text which 
appeared in paragraph 46 of its report. The Com­
mission had decided to submit its draft to the 
General Assembly immediately and to allow the 
Assembly to decide whether it should be trans­
mitted to Member States for comment. 

59. Mr. Hudson said that the Secretariat had 
done everything possible to help the Commission. 
The Commission had decided to devote a special 
paragraph of its report to expressing its thanks 
to the Secretariat for its untiring efforts. 

60. The members of the Sixth Committee were 
aware of the scope of the work entrusted to the 
International Law Commission. He was convinced 
that they would not expect to receive a draft code 



158th meeting 102 11 October 1949 

of international law from the Commission at the 
end of its first session; that would take many 
years. He thought, however, that he was not 
over-optimistic in expressing the hope that, at the 
end of the three-year period for which they had 
been elected, the members of the Commission 
would be in a position to submit to the General 
Assembly at least the first principles of the pro­
gressive codification and development of inter­
national law with which they had been entrusted. 

61. The CHAIRMAN thanked Mr. Hudson for 
his extremely helpful statement. 

62. He suggested that the Committee should dis­
cuss each of the two parts of the report separate­
ly. He declared open the debate on part I, 
"General". 

63. Mr. FITZMAURICE (United Kingdom), ob­
serving that some delegations might wish to ex­
plain their Governments' attitude to the Inter­
national Law Commission and its work, stated 
that it would be difficult for them to divide their 
general observations. 

64. The CHAIRMAN said that delegations which 
so desired could submit general observations on 
the report as a whole. He urged, however, that 
the two parts of the report should be considered 
separately in any detailed discussion. 

pART I: GENERAL ( A/925) 

65. Mr. MAURTUA (Peru) noted that the legal 
work undertaken by the United Nations consisted 
of codification of international law through con­
ventions. There could be no question of creating 
a complete code of laws covering every possible 
international legal relationship. The law must 
be recognized, codified, consolidated or developed ; 
general rules must be formulated which would 
correspond to the dictates of legal conscience and 
might thus become positive law through the con­
sent of States. That was why the task could only 
be carried out slowly and progressively. 

66. If codification in the old world was com­
pared with that developing in America, it was 
apparent that America, which already had a fairly 
long past, was considerably more vigorous. With­
out sacrificing the necessary prudence, American 
jurists showed a more active desire to legislate. 
It was well-known how little success had attended 
the Hague Conference of 1930, following which 
the League of Nations had intended to continue 
the work of codifying European laws and co­
ordinating them with American laws. As a result, 
there had been two parallel movements : a 
European movement, which had worked in a cer­
tain state of confusion ; and an American move­
ment, which had produced an isolated regional 
legal code. The unity and universality essential 
to international law had naturally suffered a great 
deal thereby. Thus, the American States had al­
ready formulated a declaration of the fundamental 
rights and duties of States based on legal elements 
drawn entirely from American sources. The text 
of the Bogota Charter, however, of which that 
declaration formed one chapter, had been drawn 
up after long and difficult negotiations in such a 
form as to make conventional law at least an ap­
proximate expression of the feeling of justice. 
In that connexion, the United Nations should take 
into account the American experience since it had 
given to a community of States a legal statute 
which should serve as a basis for the future inter­
national legal organization. 

67. In international codification, technical ele­
ments played a very important part alongside 
the progress of legal opinion, which should set 
the pace of work. Technical methods should be 
characterized by both caution and the sense of 
practicability. Caution required that the stage of 
development of ideas with respect to each of the 
institutions contemplated, the opinion of compe­
tent circles and the wishes of Governments should 
be taken into account so that it should be possible 
to know whether a particular institution corre­
sponded to a principle clearly established by the 
conscience of States. The sense of practicability 
was the expression of actual policy in the formu­
lation of law, of policy considered as the guiding 
principle of the conduct of States and elevated 
above special national problems. The sense of feasi­
bility taught that a work undertaken should not be 
jettisoned in case of difficulties but that, among 
carefully studied elements, a distinction should be 
made between those with which States unani­
mously agreed or which corresponded to their pre­
vailing wishes, and those which encountered oppo­
sition or which were not defined with sufficient 
clarity. 
68. Such considerations served as a preface to 
the study of methods for the work of codification. 
The choice of subjects for codification could not 
be made haphazardly. Codificatiop should be based 
on permanent principles unaffected by the con­
tingencies of international life ; those principles 
should, moreover, be formulated in so flexible a 
way as not to hamper the future evolution of law 
or be superseded by such evolution. The choice 
of subjects should therefore be made gradually 
and cautiously and should first of all comprise 
those elements of legal relations which were uni­
versally recognized as coming within the domain 
of the international community, and particularly 
those which were general and well-established 
customs which would gain in clarity and authority 
if defined by conventions. On the other hand, 
experience showed that there was no advantage 
in distinguishing between the constituent elements 
of custom or positive law and the elements which 
would have to be adapted to the development of 
law and to the circumstances of international life. 
Codification, however, should always take into 
account de facto situations which led States to 
consider the co-ordination of certain subjects de­
sirable ; work could be restricted to establishing 
existing rules or could go ahead of the evolution 
of the international conscience. The essential con­
sideration was that rules should have a sufficiently 
mature psychological basis so as to be incumbent 
upon States not simply because they had sub­
scribed to those rules, but because they were the 
expression of the States' fundamental beliefs and 
put their common concept of justice into words. 
Subjects which were not as yet part of the domain 
of the international community could be codified 
on condition that States agreed that they had an 
international aspect. 
69. It would, however, be useless to attempt to 
draw up constructive or secondary rules on 
matters which did not come within the domain of 
international law or which, in conformity with its 
principles, fell within the domestic competence of 
States. Nor would it be wise to obey the dynamic 
force of codification when there was not unanimity 
on the interpretation of the rules or when there 
was uncertainty as to whether they could be en­
forced. In that case, any reservations introduced 
into the text of conventions, in order to obtain 



12 October 1949 103 159th meeting 

a semblance of agreement, would only serve to 
weaken the authority of conventional law and the 
usefulness of codification. · 

iO. Analyzing the various stages of international 
codification in America, Mr. Maurtua showed that 
they constituted a systematic work based on exist­
ing elements and elaborated by a process of gradual 
development. The first stage had consisted in the 
attempt to formulate the ideas of Bolivar as 
organic codes. The second had coincided with the 
concept of codification by means of fragmentary 
conventions. The part the American Institute of 
International Law and the Pan-American Con­
ferences had played in that had been of great im­
portance. The so-called Montevideo rules had been 
progressively perfected, thanks to the work of the 
permanent commissions and to the co-operation 
of the national societies of international law, the 
Committee of Experts arid the Inter-American 
Juridical Committee. That system comprised a 
graded organization which made it possible for 
subjects to be carefully studied before they were 
formulated in legislation. At every stage of the 
work, Governments had always been able fo make 
known their point of view, which was a decisive 
factor. 

il. That was an example the United Nations 
might follow, rejecting all the political influences, 
disagreements and vested interests sometimes 

surrounding principles which ultimately com­
pletely distorted the texts drawn up with a view 
to setting forth those principles. During the dis­
cussion of the draft convention on the prevention 
and punishment of the crime of genocide, the 
Committee had been able to note that policital 
considerations had often been brought to bear 
where only purely legal concepts should have 
played a part. 

72. Mr. Maurtua pointed out that the Interna­
tional .Law Commission, which was a body of 
eminent lawyers, had no auxiliary bodies to help it 
in its research. That was a grave omission because 
codification was a double operation of selection: 
one was effected within the conscience of States; 
and the other was the task of technical bodies 
entrusted with sifting of the legal elements of 
custom and relying on considerations of exped­
iency. A single body could not suffice for that 
work. The need to take the views of Governments 
and the importance of the work to be accomplished 
into account would justify the setting up of new 
institutions. 
73. Mr. TRUJILLO (Ecuador), stressing the wide 
scope of the problem raised by the Peruvian dele­
gation, called for adjournment. 

The motion for adjournment was adopted by 
31 votes to none, with 10 abstentions. 

The meeting rose at 5.15 p.m. 




